
 

 
 

 
 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Special Scrutiny Commission 
 

Monday, 17 July 2023 at 6.30pm 
in Council Chamber  Council Offices  
Market Street  Newbury 
 

This meeting will be streamed live here: https://www.westberks.gov.uk/osmclive   
 

You can view all streamed Council meetings here: 
https://www.westberks.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive  
 

Date of despatch of Agenda:  Friday, 7 July 2023 
 

For further information about this Agenda, or to inspect any background documents 
referred to in Part I reports, please contact Gordon Oliver on (01635) 519486 
e-mail: gordon.oliver1@westberks.gov.uk 

 
Further information and Minutes are also available on the Council’s website at 

www.westberks.gov.uk  

 
 

Scan here to access the public 
documents for this meeting 

Public Document Pack

https://www.westberks.gov.uk/osmclive
https://www.westberks.gov.uk/councilmeetingslive
http://www.westberks.gov.uk/


Agenda - Scrutiny Commission to be held on Monday, 17 July 2023 (continued) 
 

 

 

 

To: Councillors Carolyne Culver (Chairman), Dominic Boeck (Vice-
Chairman), Antony Amirtharaj, Paul Dick, Ross Mackinnon, 
Geoff Mayes, Erik Pattenden, Justin Pemberton, Christopher Read and 

Denise Gaines 

Substitutes: Councillors Jeremy Cottam, Billy Drummond, Stuart Gourley, 

David Marsh, Richard Somner, Joanne Stewart and 
Howard Woollaston 

Other Members 

invited: 
Councillors Lee Dillon and Denise Gaines  

 

Agenda 
 

Part I Page No. 

 
1.    Apologies for Absence 5 - 6 
 To receive apologies for inability to attend the meeting (if any). 

 

 

2.    Declarations of Interest 7 - 8 
 To remind Members of the need to record the existence and nature of 

any personal, disclosable pecuniary or other registrable interests in items 
on the agenda, in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 

 

3.    Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Report Decision 
Review (Urgent Item) 

9 - 26 

 Purpose: To provide details on the recent case which was reviewed by 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO).  
Following investigations, the LGSCO upheld their decision and found 

there to have been maladministration and injustice in relation to how a 
homelessness application was managed in December 2020.  As part of 

the sanctions which have been imposed by LGSCO the Council are 
required to consider the Ombudsman’s report at a decision making body 
made up of elected members. 

 

 

 

Sarah Clarke 
Service Director Strategy and Commissioning 
 

If you require this information in a different format or translation, please contact 
Stephen Chard on telephone (01635) 519462. 

https://www.westberks.gov.uk/media/38477/Constitution-Part-13-Codes-and-Protocols/pdf/Part_13_-_Codes_and_Protocols_update_September_2019.pdf


Special Scrutiny Commission – 17 July 2023 

 

 

 

Item 1 – Apologies 

Verbal Item 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1.



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



Special Scrutiny Commission – 17 July 2023 

 

 

 

Item 2 – Declarations of interest 

Verbal Item 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Local Government Social Care Ombudsman report decision review 

West Berkshire Council Scrutiny Commission               17 July 2023 

Local Government Social Care 
Ombudsman report decision review 

Committee considering report: Scrutiny Commission 

Date of Committee: 17 July 2023 

Portfolio Member: Councillor Denise Gaines 

Date Portfolio Member agreed report:  

Report Author: Nick Caprara 

Forward Plan Ref:  

1 Purpose of the Report 

1.1 To provide details on the recent case which was reviewed by the Local Government 

and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO).  Following investigations, the LGSCO upheld 
their decision and found there to have been maladministration and injustice in relation 
to how a homelessness application was managed in December 2020.  As part of the 

sanctions which have been imposed by LGSCO the Council are required to consider 
the Ombudsman’s report at a decision making body made up of elected members. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 To note the findings of the LGSCO in reaching the decision on this case and to consider 

the actions which have been taken in order to improve how similar cases are managed 
in the future.  

3 Implications and Impact Assessment 

Implication Commentary 

Financial: Compensation payment was made in line with LGSCO 
recommendations in February 2023. 

Human Resource: None 

Legal: LGSCO have made a number of recommendations which are 
in the public domain and which the Council have agreed should 

be followed.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 3.



Local Government Social Care Ombudsman report decision review  

West Berkshire Council Scrutiny Commission               17 July 2023 

Risk Management: A lessons learned exercise has been undertaken at an 
operational level to review all elements of the case.  Where the 
LGSCO deemed there to have been a failure on behalf of WBC 

the details have been reviewed in order to ensure there is no 
risk of repeated service failure.   

Property: Relates to the provision of accommodation under 

Homelessness legislation duty. 

Policy: The findings of this case relate to statutory homelessness 
presentations in line with the Homelessness Reduction Bill. 

 

P
o

s
it

iv
e

 

N
e

u
tr

a
l 

N
e

g
a

ti
v

e
 Commentary 

Equalities Impact:     

A Are there any aspects 

of the proposed decision, 

including how it is 
delivered or accessed, 
that could impact on 

inequality? 

x   The findings of the Ombudsman 
determine that an injustice took place and 

as a result remedial measures have been 
implemented to prevent this injustice from 
occurring at any time in the future. 

B Will the proposed 

decision have an impact 

upon the lives of people 
with protected 
characteristics, including 

employees and service 
users? 

x    

Environmental Impact:  x  None   

Health Impact: x   Provision of suitable accommodation at 

the initial time of presentation to the local 
authority would ensure that households 
who have been subjected to abuse or 

trauma can receive appropriate support 
during a time of crisis.   

Page 8



Local Government Social Care Ombudsman report decision review  

West Berkshire Council Scrutiny Commission               17 July 2023 

ICT Impact:  x  None 

Digital Services Impact:    None 

Council Strategy 
Priorities: 

x   Reviewing operational procedures will 
make a positive impact in achieving the 

Council Priorities:  

 Ensure our vulnerable children and 
adults achieve better outcomes 

 Support everyone to reach their full 
potential 

This will be achieved through supporting 
household’s into more suitable 

accommodation at the point of 
presentation. 

Core Business:    Contributes to: 

Ensure our vulnerable children and adults 

achieve better outcomes   

Support everyone to reach their full 

potential 

Data Impact:    None 

Consultation and 
Engagement: 

Housing Service 

Legal Services  

Adult Social Care 

Children’s Services 

Customer Services 

 

4 Executive Summary 

4.1 To provide details on the recent case which was reviewed by the Local Government 

and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO).  Following investigations, the LGSCO upheld 
their decision and found there to have been maladministration and injustice in relation 

Page 9



Local Government Social Care Ombudsman report decision review  

West Berkshire Council Scrutiny Commission               17 July 2023 

to how a homelessness application was managed in December 2020.  As part of the 
sanctions which have been imposed by LGSCO the Council are required to consider 

the Ombudsman’s report at a decision making level.   

5 Supporting Information 

Introduction 

5.1 This report sets out the details of the findings by the LGSCO and the elements of the 
case where maladministration and injustice had taken place in relation to how a 

homelessness case had been managed in December 2020.  Full details setting out all 
of the findings of the LGSCO are provided in the related appendix. 

Background 

5.2 In December 2020 the Council received a homelessness application from a client who 
was fleeing the threat of violence from another local authority area where she held a 

social housing tenancy. Following police advice she was placed in a hotel by that local 
authority as her tenancy was no longer considered to be safe for her and her family. 

5.3 Ms X complained the Council refused to accept a homelessness application when she 
had to leave her home due to threats of violence. In her complaint to the LGSCO Ms X 
also complained that the Council had delayed dealing with her housing register 

application, as well as her application for assistance from the Discretionary Housing 
Payment fund which is administered by Housing Services and in the handling of her 

complaint. 

5.4 Appendix 1 as attached is the report detailing the full finding’s of the LGSCO into this 
case. 

5.5 This report confirms that the decision that Ms X had been subjected to maladministration 
and injustice solely related to the handling of the initial homelessness application 

process.  No further action regarding the other elements of the complaint were proposed 
and the LGSCO acknowledged that an apology had already been made due to a delay 
in a review being undertaken. 

5.6 Following receipt of the LGSCO report officers have taken steps to implement the 
recommendations of the LGSCO.   

5.7 Ms X was issued with a formal apology on 8th February 2023 and the compensation 
payment of £500 was process on 9th February 2023.   

5.8 The Council is also required to review its processes to ensure that it accepts 

homelessness applications and provides interim accommodation in line with the law and 
guidance and provide guidance and/or training to staff following that review. 

5.9 This incident where took place in December 2020.  At this time the Housing Service was 
in the midst of a major Service Improvement Plan in order to improve the level of 
services being delivered to customers.  Since December 2020 all processes relating to 

the Housing Operations service which is responsible for managing the Councils’  
homelessness function have been reviewed and updated.  Clear processes have been 

developed to ensure that staff are aware of their statutory obligations as well as good 
practice as specified in the Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities.  

Page 10



Local Government Social Care Ombudsman report decision review 

West Berkshire Council Scrutiny Commission               17 July 2023 

Proposals 

5.10 The LGSCO report highlight that the operational practices in 2020 failed to adequately 

support a vulnerable client.  While this was not the intention of officers working on the 
case at that time, this case has highlighted that there were issues with the way the 

Council interpreted legislation at that time and how this directly impacted the advice and 
assistance that was given to a client fleeing a violent situation. 

5.11 A review of operational procedures and training requirements has been undertaken 

since 2020.  Front line staff and managers have received on-going training and support 
relating to case law and changes in good practice guidance. This will continue on an 

on-going basis.  

5.12 The LGSCO in their final report ask for the Council to confirm the action which has been 
taken or is intended to be taken.   

5.13 The findings of the LGSCO and the full report have been shared with staff as part of the 
service’s ongoing continuous improvement process and this has been discussed with 

operational teams during team meetings and lessons learned have been identified. 

5.14 The service is currently undergoing further recruitment to fill long term vacancies.  As 
part of this exercise further training will be provided to all staff through specialist external 

training to ensure all staff have been equipped with the knowledge and understanding 
of the interpretation of the legislation in order to ensure that vulnerable clients do not 

have a similar experience when they engage with the Council for help and assistance. 

6 Other options considered  

6.1 Do nothing was not considered to be an appropriate option in the circumstance as the 

requirement of the LGSCO was to review the findings with elected members following 
the decision that the client had suffered maladministration in relation to their case.  

7 Conclusion 

7.1 The outcome of this case is regrettable and officers acknowledge that how this issue 
was handled could have been avoided.  The events occurred at a time when the 

Housing Service was in the midst of a fundamental Service Improvement Plan.   

7.2 Since this occurred, there has been a significant churn in staff resources as well as the 

implementation of new operational processes and practices relating to how 
homelessness applications are assessed, and how the Council manages clients who 
are fleeing threats of violence.   

7.3 As a result officers feel confident that the manner in which this initial element of the 
case was handled in December 2020 will not re-occur. The operational process centres 

on ensuring that clients are provided with suitable accommodation at the point of 
presentation.  Any debate around liability for ongoing rehousing obligations or financial 
commitment will not impact the service provided to the customer.  

Page 11



Local Government Social Care Ombudsman report decision review  

West Berkshire Council Scrutiny Commission               17 July 2023 

8 Appendices 

8.1 Appendix A – LGSCO Final Report (separate pdf document) 

 

Background Papers: 

None 

Subject to Call-In:  

Yes:  No:  

The item is due to be referred to Council for final approval  

Delays in implementation could have serious financial implications for the 

Council 

Delays in implementation could compromise the Council’s position 

Considered or reviewed by Scrutiny Commission or associated Committees, 

Task Groups within preceding six months  

Item is Urgent Key Decision 

Report is to note only 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wards affected: N/A 

Officer details: 

Name:  Nick Caprara 
Job Title:  Service Lead - Housing 

Tel No:  01635 503020 
E-mail:  nick.caprara1@westberks.gov.uk  

Document Control 
 

Document Ref:  Date Created: 3/7/23 

Version: 1.0 Date Modified:  

Author: Nick Caprara 

Owning Service Housing 

  Change History 
 

Version Date Description Change ID 

1    

2    
 

Page 12

mailto:nick.caprara1@westberks.gov.uk


Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
www.lgo.org.uk

Investigation into a complaint about
West Berkshire Council
 (reference number: 21 014 573)

11 January 2023

Report by the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman

Page 13

http://www.lgo.org.uk/


    

Final report 2

Key to names used

Ms X The complainant
Council B Another council 
Provider C A social housing provider in Council B’s area

The Ombudsman’s role
For more than 40 years the Ombudsman has independently and impartially investigated 
complaints. We effectively resolve disputes about councils and other bodies in our 
jurisdiction by recommending redress which is proportionate, appropriate and reasonable 
based on all the facts of the complaint. Our service is free of charge.

Each case which comes to the Ombudsman is different and we take the individual needs 
and circumstances of the person complaining to us into account when we make 
recommendations to remedy injustice caused by fault. 

We have no legal power to force councils to follow our recommendations, but they almost 
always do. Some of the things we might ask a council to do are:

 apologise

 pay a financial remedy

 improve its procedures so similar problems don’t happen again.

1. Section 30 of the 1974 Local Government Act says that a report should not normally 
name or identify any person. The people involved in this complaint are referred to by a 
letter or job role.

2.

3.

Page 14



    

Final report 3

Report summary
Housing: Homelessness
Ms X complained the Council refused to accept a homelessness application when 
she had to leave her home due to threats of violence. She also complained it 
delayed in dealing with her housing register application, her application for a 
discretionary housing payment and responding to her complaint.

Finding
Fault found causing injustice and recommendations made. 

Recommendations
The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members 
and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended)

The Council should also take the following action within three months of the date 
of this report:
• Apologise to Ms X for not providing interim accommodation and for not properly 

considering whether it owed a relief duty and pay her £500 for the frustration 
and uncertainty caused.

• Review its processes to ensure it accepts homelessness applications and 
provides interim accommodation in line with the law and guidance and provide 
guidance or training to relevant staff following that review.

Page 15



    

Final report 4

The complaint
1. Ms X complained the Council:

• refused to accept a homelessness application when she had to leave her home 
due to threats of violence, which meant she had to remain in unsuitable hotel 
accommodation with her children. Further the Council did not issue a written 
decision with appeal rights, which meant she did not get the chance to ask for 
a review of its decision;

• delayed in dealing with her application for a discretionary housing payment and 
initially refused a payment because it did not wait for her to provide the 
evidence it had asked for;

• delayed in dealing with her housing register application and did not respond 
when she queried the priority band awarded; and 

• delayed responding to her complaint.

Legal and administrative background
The Ombudsman’s role and powers 

2. We investigate complaints about ‘maladministration’ and ‘service failure’. In this 
report, we have used the word ‘fault’ to refer to these. We must also consider 
whether any fault has had an adverse impact on the person making the 
complaint. We refer to this as ‘injustice’. If there has been fault which has caused 
an injustice, we may suggest a remedy. (Local Government Act 1974, sections 26(1) and 
26A(1), as amended)

3. We cannot question whether an organisation’s decision is right or wrong simply 
because the complainant disagrees with it. We must consider whether there was 
fault in the way the decision was reached. (Local Government Act 1974, section 34(3), as 
amended)

4. When considering complaints, if there is a conflict of evidence, we make findings 
based on the balance of probabilities. This means that we will weigh up the 
available relevant evidence and base our findings on what we think was more 
likely to have happened.

Relevant law and guidance

Homelessness
5. Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 and the Homelessness Code of Guidance for 

Local Authorities (the Code) set out councils’ powers and duties to people who 
are homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

6. If a council has ‘reason to believe’ a person may be homeless or threatened with 
homelessness, it must take a homelessness application and make enquiries. The 
threshold for taking an application is low. The person does not have to complete a 
specific form or approach a particular council department. (Housing Act 1996, section 
184 and Homelessness Code of Guidance paragraphs 6.2 and 18.5)  

7. The council will make enquiries to establish whether the person is:
• eligible for assistance;
• homeless or threatened with homelessness;
• in priority need; and 
• not intentionally homeless.

Page 16



    

Final report 5

8. Where the person is homeless and eligible for assistance, the council must take 
reasonable steps to secure suitable accommodation for them for 56 days. This is 
the relief duty. When the council decides this duty has ended, it must notify the 
person in writing.

9. A council must secure interim accommodation for the person and their household 
if it has reason to believe they may be homeless, eligible for assistance and have 
a priority need. (Housing Act 1996, section 188.)  Applicants with dependent children will 
be in priority need.

10. At the end of the relief stage, the council must decide if it owes the person the 
main housing duty. It will owe the main housing duty if it is satisfied the person is 
homeless, eligible for assistance, has a priority need and is not intentionally 
homeless (unless it refers the application to another housing authority under 
section 198). (Housing Act 1996, section 193 and Homelessness Code of Guidance, 
paragraph 15.39)

11. At the same time, the council may make enquiries to establish whether the 
applicant has a “local connection” with it. Generally, applicants may have a local 
connection if they live in the council’s area (or have lived there in the past), work 
in the area, or have family associations in the area.

12. If the council determines the applicant has no local connection to it but has a local 
connection with another council, it can make a referral to that council if certain 
conditions are met. A referral cannot be made to another council where the 
applicant or someone in their household will be at risk of domestic abuse or other 
violence in that council’s area. (Homelessness Code of Guidance, paragraph 10.51)

13. Under section 213 of the Housing Act 1996, a council can ask for assistance from 
another council. The council receiving the request for assistance must “cooperate 
in providing such assistance as far as is reasonable in the circumstances”. The 
Code, at paragraph 16.15 says this would be appropriate where an applicant is at 
risk of violence or serious harassment in the area where they applied for 
assistance.

14. Most housing decisions must be confirmed in writing and the person has the right 
to ask for a review of the decision within 21 days. There is no right to a review of 
the decision to refuse to accept a homelessness application.

Assistance with housing costs
15. Universal Credit (UC) includes an element to assist with rent. The maximum paid 

towards rent is the Local Housing Allowance (LHA), which is based on where the 
person lives and how many bedrooms they need for their household.

16. The Government restricts the total amount of benefit a person can receive. This is 
known as the benefit cap. The benefit cap does not affect those who are retired or 
receiving certain benefits, such as working tax credit.

Discretionary housing payment (DHP)
17. Councils operate a scheme to assist with housing costs. This can be used to 

assist those whose rent is higher than the LHA and those subject to the benefit 
cap. DHPs are discretionary. 

18. Relevant to this complaint, this Council’s scheme prioritises those who are at risk 
of homelessness, where DHPs can prevent homelessness.

Page 17



    

Final report 6

Housing allocations
19. Most councils maintain a housing register for those waiting for social housing. The 

council must publish an allocations scheme that sets out how it prioritises 
applicants, and its procedures for allocating housing. All allocations must be 
made in strict accordance with the published scheme. (Housing Act 1996, 
section 166A(1) & (14))

20. An allocations scheme must give reasonable preference to applicants in the 
following categories:
• homeless people;
• people in insanitary, overcrowded or unsatisfactory housing;
• people who need to move on medical or welfare grounds;
• people who need to move to avoid hardship to themselves or others.

(Housing Act 1996, section 166A(3))

21. This Council’s scheme prioritises applications based on four priority bands:
• Band A: Emergency housing need to move.
• Band B: Urgent housing need to move. The Council may award band B where 

housing conditions exacerbate a serious medical condition or disability.
• Band C: Medium housing need to move. The Council may award band C 

where the applicant is owed a homelessness duty.
• Band D: Low housing need to move.

Complaints handling
22. This Council’s complaints process has two stages:

• Stage 1: Informal resolution. It aims to respond within 15 working days; and
• Stage 2: Formal investigation. It aims to respond within 25 working days at this 

stage and will tell complainants if the reply will take longer.
23. If the complainant remains unhappy with the response, they can complain to us.

How we considered this complaint
24. We produced this report after examining relevant documents, discussing the 

complaint with Ms X and making targeted enquiries of the Council.
25. We gave Ms X and the Council a confidential draft of this report and invited their 

comments. Ms X told us she did not want to make any further comments. The 
Council did not make any comments, despite being asked to do so several times.

What we found
What happened

26. In this report we refer to two different councils. The subject of this complaint is 
West Berkshire Council, which we refer to as “this Council”. Ms X was a council 
tenant in Council B’s area. In December 2020 she had to leave her home due to 
threats of violence. Initially the police arranged emergency accommodation for 
three nights. When this arrangement ended, the police informed Council B’s 
lettings team Ms X could no longer live in her council property because it was not 
safe. The police advised Ms X to approach this Council as homeless because 
they considered she would be safe in this Council’s area.

Page 18



    

Final report 7

27. Ms X contacted this Council the next day. She explained the police had told her it 
was not safe for her to live in Council B’s area and that she was also at risk in 
certain other areas. This Council told her that because the first contact was to 
Council B’s lettings team, Council B had a duty to assist her. It also contacted 
Council B to stress it was their duty to assist Ms X. Council B agreed to make 
enquiries about where Ms X and her family could stay that night. Council B 
accepted a relief duty and placed Ms X in interim accommodation in this Council’s 
area.

28. Ms X asked this Council for a decision in writing. This Council sent her an email, 
which:
• set out its understanding of the situation, including that she was at risk of 

violence in Council B’s area and that the police were involved;
• stated that the police contact with Council B amounted to a referral by a public 

body, which meant that Council B had a duty to assist her; and 
• further stated that Council B had a duty of care as Ms X’s landlord.

29. Ms X instructed a solicitor, who contacted this Council in early January 2021. The 
solicitor set out the background to Ms X having to leave her home, and stated 
their view that this Council should:
• accept a homelessness application and make enquiries; and
• provide interim accommodation for Ms X in the meantime.

30. This Council responded that:
• Ms X first approached Council B and therefore Council B should provide 

accommodation;
• the police had not confirmed Ms X would be safe in its area and its attempts to 

contact the police had not been successful; and 
• it understood Council B had since accepted a relief duty for Ms X. Council B 

could explore placing Ms X in social housing outside its area, either through 
another council that owned its own housing stock or with a registered social 
housing provider.

31. Shortly after this, Council B asked this Council for assistance under section 213. It 
said Ms X was currently living in a hotel with no kitchen facilities in this Council ’s 
area. It had established this Council’s area was safe for her and was satisfied it 
would not be appropriate for her to be accommodated in its own area. This meant 
it could not provide an alternative council property and it would be difficult for 
Ms X to secure private rented accommodation due to her financial circumstances. 
It requested assistance in discharging the relief duty on the basis that the most 
appropriate way to do so would be for Ms X to be offered social housing in this 
Council’s area, which is where she wanted to live.

32. This Council refused to assist. It said:
• the request was not reasonable because the circumstances were not 

exceptional, and it had not seen police evidence that Ms X was safe in its area. 
It said the police evidence provided mostly related to a family member who was 
not part of the household;

• it did not have any social housing stock of its own and it would take a long time 
for her to be offered a property through its housing register; and 

Page 19



    

Final report 8

• Council B could discharge its duty by contacting other housing providers and it 
provided details of the largest social housing provider in Council B’s area, 
provider C.

33. It asked Council B to send it the following information before it considered the 
request further:
• Council B’s reasons for not sending it an out of area placement notification 

when it placed Ms X in its area;
• Council B’s reasons for not being able to discharge the relief duty, which could 

be discharged by placing Ms X in another council area;
• details of the attempts Council B had made to secure accommodation for Ms X 

during the month it had been assisting her;
• confirmation that Council B had approached provider C directly about whether 

it could offer social housing to Ms X in exchange for placing another applicant 
in Council B’s area.

34. In late January/early February 2021 this Council corresponded further with Ms X’s 
solicitor. It maintained that it was Council B’s responsibility to assist Ms X and that 
it would disadvantage Ms X if this Council helped her. It said this was because if it 
did so it was likely Ms X would end up in private rented sector accommodation. 
This would mean she lost her social housing tenancy, and it would be more 
expensive for her. However, it suggested Council B could seek a reciprocal 
arrangement with a social housing provider in this Council’s area.

35. In early February, Ms X found private rented accommodation in this Council’s 
area.

Analysis and findings - Homelessness
36. Ms X approached this Council for assistance. She explained she had had to leave 

her council property in Council B’s area because of serious threats of violence 
and provided details of the lead police officer dealing with the case. This Council 
spoke to her about her situation, spoke to Council B and attempted to contact the 
police. On balance, it had sufficient information to establish Ms X “may be” 
homeless on the grounds it was not reasonable for her to continue to occupy her 
council property. This meant it was under a duty to make enquiries about what 
duties it may owe her, including whether it owed a relief duty. 

37. Under section 188 where an applicant “may be” homeless, is in priority need and 
is eligible for housing assistance, councils have a duty to provide interim 
accommodation for them. The courts have confirmed the threshold for deciding 
the applicant “may be” homeless is low. On balance, if it had properly considered 
the matter, this Council would have decided it had reason to believe Ms X was 
homeless, in priority need (as she had dependent children), and eligible for 
assistance. It therefore had a duty to provide interim accommodation at her 
request. It failed to do so, which was fault.

38. It argued that the police referral to Council B triggered a duty for Council B to 
provide interim accommodation. However, such an assessment is not relevant to 
its decision-making under section 188. Whilst it may have been appropriate for 
this Council to contact Council B about which of them should fund the interim 
accommodation, those discussions should take place whilst the accommodation 
is being provided, not before agreeing to provide it.

Page 20



    

Final report 9

39. Although this Council made some preliminary enquiries, it is unclear whether it 
accepted a homelessness application. It did not issue Ms X with a section 184 
decision letter. Its failure to consider whether it owed a relief duty to Ms X and 
confirm its decision in writing was further fault.

40. We note this Council argued that taking a homelessness application may have 
disadvantaged Ms X. This was because it was likely it would have discharged the 
duty by identifying private rented accommodation for her so she would lose her 
social housing tenancy. However, it could have accepted an application and then 
explained the situation so that Ms X could make an informed decision about 
whether to pursue an application with this Council or Council B. Having accepted 
a homelessness application it could not have referred Ms X back to Council B on 
the basis that Ms X did not have a local connection in its area because the police 
had confirmed Ms X was not safe in Council B’s area.

41. In the event, Council B accepted a homelessness application, provided interim 
accommodation, and later accepted a relief duty. However, Ms X was frustrated 
because she could not pursue an application in the area of her choice, West 
Berkshire. She is left with some uncertainty about whether the outcome may have 
been better, including whether the interim accommodation would have been more 
suitable, if she had been able to pursue a homelessness application with this 
Council.

Refusal to assist Council B
42. Council B does not need to show the circumstances were exceptional nor that it 

could not discharge its housing duty before seeking assistance from another 
council. Arguably, this Council was setting a high bar to be met before it would 
consider assistance to Ms X, which was not justified.

43. That said, it explained that it had no social housing stock of its own and that 
Council B could seek a reciprocal arrangement with the main social housing 
provider in its area, for which it provided details. Further, it did not rule out 
providing assistance, but asked for further information and evidence, which 
Council B did not provide because shortly thereafter Ms X identified private rented 
accommodation.

44. On this basis, whilst this Council’s reluctance to assist Council B was not good 
practice, it falls short of amounting to fault.

Other complaints considered

Housing register application
45. Ms X said she asked about joining this Council’s housing register shortly after 

moving into its area but was told she was not eligible because she had not lived in 
the area for two years. She has provided evidence she asked the Council for 
log-in details on 1 November 2021, after she tried again to make an online 
application but got a system message that an application already existed with her 
national insurance number. In response to our enquiries, the Council said it had 
no record of an application from Ms X before 1 November 2021, and that 
application was incomplete. It accepted her application on 9 November and 
awarded her Band D priority. It confirmed this in writing and told Ms X she could 
ask for a review within 21 days.

46. On 7 December Ms X asked whether the Council had taken her medical and 
financial circumstances into account. The Council replied the next day to say her 
financial circumstances, on their own, did not amount to a housing need and 

Page 21



    

Final report 10

asked for medical evidence to consider if she was eligible for medical priority. It 
subsequently considered the medical evidence Ms X provided and awarded her 
Band C on 23 March. It later reviewed the application and awarded her Band B 
priority on 31 March, which it said took into account the ending of the DHP (see 
below).

47. There is not enough information to determine when Ms X first applied to the 
housing register. There was no delay from 1 November 2021 onwards. There was 
no fault in the way the Council considered the priority band, which reflected the 
information it held at the various points in time.

Discretionary housing payment (DHP)
48. Ms X applied for a DHP in mid-May 2021. The Council told her what evidence it 

needed to support this, including evidence from the Department of Work and 
Pensions (DWP) about her Universal Credit (UC) claim. By early July it had not 
received the DWP evidence and made a decision based on the information it had, 
which included that she was a student. It refused the DHP because payments 
were not intended for students and signposted her to other sources of support. 

49. Just under a week later, it reviewed the case and decided to award Ms X a DHP 
of £75 a month, until her course began in September because she had shown 
financial hardship. It said she could ask for a review of its decision, which she did 
in late July.

50. There was a delay by this Council in considering the review. In the meantime, 
Ms X discovered her course would not be running in September 2021, which 
meant she would no longer be a full-time student. After asking for further 
evidence the Council awarded an increased DHP to reflect that Ms X was subject 
to the benefit cap and her rent was more than the Local Housing Allowance 
(LHA). This award was made for six months. In its complaint response to Ms X, 
the Council acknowledged there was a delay in carrying out the review, for which 
it apologised.

51. The Council made its initial decision without waiting for the DWP evidence 
because its processes required it to make a decision within a specific timeframe, 
but then revised its decision within a week. DHPs are discretionary and the 
Council was entitled to refuse where other sources of funding may be available.

52. The Council accepted there was a delay in considering the review, which was 
fault. This did not cause Ms X a significant injustice because the award would not 
have been increased if it had been considered sooner. This was because it did 
not become clear until September 2021 that Ms X would not continue to be a 
full-time student. On this basis, the Council’s apology is a sufficient remedy.

Complaints handling
53. Ms X complained on 2 September and the Council responded on 24 September, 

which was 16 working days, which is one day later than its policy says. 
54. Ms X made a stage 2 complaint on 27 September. The Council’s policy says it 

aims to respond within 25 working days but will let the complainant know if there 
will be a delay. There was a delay in this case as relevant officers were on annual 
leave, but the Council wrote to Ms X to explain there would be a delay on 
27 October 2021. It issued a stage 2 response on 10 November 2021, which was 
32 working days. Although there was a short delay in responding, this was not 
sufficient to amount to fault. The Council responded appropriately to the issues 
Ms X raised.

Page 22



    

Final report 11

Recommendations
55. Within three months of the date of this report, the Council should:

• apologise to Ms X for not providing interim accommodation and for not properly 
considering whether it owed a relief duty and pay her £500 for the frustration 
and uncertainty caused; and 

• review its processes to ensure it accepts homelessness applications and 
provides interim accommodation in line with the law and guidance and provide 
guidance or training to relevant staff following that review.

56. The Council must consider the report and confirm within three months the action it 
has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the report at its full 
Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee of elected members 
and we will require evidence of this. (Local Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended)

Decision
57. We decided to issue a final report. We found fault by the Council causing 

injustice. We have recommended action to remedy that injustice and prevent 
recurrence of the fault.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24


	Agenda
	1. Apologies for Absence
	2. Declarations of Interest
	3. Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Report Decision Review
	3a. Appendix A- LGSCO Final report


